IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

SID J. WHITE

OCI 23 1998:

TERRY HYDEN,)
)
Petitioner,)
)
vs.)
)
STATE OF FLORIDA,)
)
Respondent.)
)

÷

CASE NO. 93,966

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

RICHARD L. JORANDBY Public Defender

SUSAN D. CLINE Assistant Public Defender Fifteenth Judicial Circuit of Florida Florida Bar No. 377856 Attorney for Terry Hyden The Criminal Justice Building 421 Third Street, 6th Floor West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 (561) 355-7600

.

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, Terry Hyden, was the Defendant in the Criminal Division of the Circuit Court of the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit, in and for Indian River County, Florida, and the Appellant in the Fourth District Court of Appeal. He will be referred to by name or as Petitioner in this brief. Respondent was the Prosecution in the trial court and the Appellee in the district court.

In the brief, the parties will be referred to as they appear before this Honorable Court.

The symbol "R" will denote the Record on Appeal documents.

The symbol "T" will denote the Record on Appeal transcripts.

The symbol "SR" will denote the Supplemental Record on Appeal (plea and sentencing hearing).

The symbol "SSR" will denote the Second Supplemental Record on Appeal (defense counsel's memorandum of law on motion to suppress).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Petitioner, Terry Hyden, was charged by information filed in the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit with possession of cocaine (R 7).

Petitioner filed a pretrial motion to suppress (R 19-21). A hearing was held on January 17, 1997, after which the trial court took the case under advisement (T 15-20; SSR). On January 31, 1997, the court entered a written order denying the motion to suppress (R 24-25).

On February 12, 1997, pursuant to a written petition to enter a plea of no contest (R 27-29), Petitioner entered a nolo contendere plea straight up to the court, reserving his right to appeal the denial of the motion to suppress (SR 2, 4-5). The parties had agreed that the motion to suppress was dispositive (T 21).

At sentencing on March 10, 1997, Petitioner was sentenced within the guidelines (R 30-32) to two (2) years on probation with enumerated special conditions including periodic urinalyses (SR 10-11; R 33-38, 39-40, 46). The court stated that it would sign final judgments for \$200 in public defender fees and \$42 for deposition costs (SR 11-12; R 47).

Timely Notice of Appeal was filed by Petitioner to the Fourth District Court of Appeal (R 48).

Initially, the Fourth District in a written opinion, Hyden v. State, 23 Fla. L. Weekly D677 (Fla. 4th DCA March 11, 1998), affirmed the trial court's denial of the motion to suppress but remanded for the trial court to correct the ministerial errors in the order of probation and order on charges/costs/fees as the written orders did not conform to the trial court's oral pronouncements. Respondent moved for rehearing. On rehearing en banc, on June 3, 1998, the Fourth District withdrew its opinion of March 11, 1998, and substituted a new opinion. Hyden v. State, 715 So. 2d 960 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998) (en banc). In the substituted opinion, the Fourth District held that it would "no longer entertain on appeal the correction of sentencing errors which are not properly preserved." Hyden, 715 So. 2d at 961. Relying on Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.140(d), it further held that although it had previously corrected deviations from the oral pronouncement of sentence, that it would no longer do so unless the errors were preserved by the filing of a motion to correct pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.800(b). Id. In addition, the Fourth District held that error in the assessment of public defender fees and costs is no longer fundamental error and is not correctable on appeal without preservation in the trial court. Ιn

З

doing so, the Fourth District receded from its prior holding in Louisgeste v. State, 706 So. 2d 29 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998), and certified conflict with Neal v. State, 688 So. 2d 392 (Fla. 1st DCA), review denied, 698 So. 2d 543 (Fla. 1997). Id. at 962. Petitioner moved for rehearing/rehearing en banc and/or certification of conflict and/or certification of two questions of great public importance. The Fourth District denied Petitioner's motion on August 18, 1998, and issued its mandate on September 4, 1998.

Timely Notice of Discretionary Review was filed by Petitioner on September 17, 1998. On September 25, 1998, this Court issued its Order postponing a decision on jurisdiction and setting a briefing schedule. This brief on the merits follows.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

POINT I

In the instant cause, the Fourth District Court of Appeal erronously held that the improper imposition of public defender fees and costs is no longer fundamental error since the enactment of Section 924.051(3), Florida Statutes (1997), and certified conflict with Neal v. State, 688 So. 2d 392 (Fla. 1st DCA), review denied, 698 So. 2d 543 (Fla. 1997). The Neal decision was correctly decided on the authority of this Court's decision in Wood v. State, 544 So. 2d 1004 (Fla. 1989). Thus, this Court must approve Neal and quash Hyden.

POINT II

This Honorable Court should also quash the instant decision as the opinion in is direct and express conflict on other points of law with numerous other decisions of this Court and its sister district courts of appeal. The Fourth District erroneously identified too narrow a class of sentencing errors which it will consider on appeal without preservation in the trial court: preserved sentencing errors, fundamental errors and illegal sentences as defined in *Davis v. State*, 661 So. 2d 1193 (Fla. 1995).

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE INSTANT DECISION OF THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL CONFLICTS WITH NEAL V. STATE, 688 SO. 2D 392 (FLA. 1ST DCA), REVIEW DENIED, 698 SO. 2D 543 (FLA. 1997), ON THE SAME QUESTION OF LAW.

On direct appeal to the Fourth District Court of Appeal, in the second point raised, Mr. Hyden challenged ministerial or scrivener's errors where the written order of probation and the written order on charges/costs/fees did not conform to the trial court's oral pronouncements at the sentencing hearing. First, due to a scrivener's error, special condition 15 in the written order of probation contained a requirement that Petitioner submit to random breath and blood testing at any time requested by his officer or the professional staff of any treatment center where he received treatment (R 36). However, at sentencing, the trial court did not orally impose this condition. Rather, the court ordered Petitioner to submit only to periodic urinalyses as a special condition of probation (SR 11). In addition, the written order of probation included conditions requiring Petitioner to pay \$42 in "restitution" for deposition costs to the Board of County Commissioners and \$200 in public defender fees (R 35). The "Order on Charges/Costs/Fees" included the same assessments (R 46). This

does not conform to the trial court's oral pronouncement that a final judgment would instead be entered for public defender fees and costs (SR 11-12), which was also done (R 47). The trial court never ordered Petitioner to pay these costs as conditions of probation.

On rehearing en banc, the Fourth District held that it would "no longer entertain on appeal the correction of sentencing errors which are not properly preserved." Hyden v. State, 715 So. 2d 960, 961 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998) (en banc). Relying on Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.140(d), it further held that although it had previously corrected deviations from the oral pronouncement of sentence, that it would no longer do so unless the errors were preserved by the filing of a motion to correct pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.800(b). Id. In addition, the Fourth District held that error in the assessment of public defender fees and costs is no longer fundamental error and is not correctable on appeal without preservation in the trial court. In doing so, the Fourth District receded from its prior holding in Louisgeste v. State, 706 So. 2d 29 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998), and certified conflict with Neal v. State, 688 So. 2d 392 (Fla. 1st DCA), review denied, 698 So. 2d 543 (Fla. 1997). Id. at 962. This Court thus has

jurisdiction pursuant to Article V, Section 3(b)(4) of the Florida Constitution.

This Court should accept jurisdiction, affirm Neal and quash Hyden. In addition, this Court should address other conflicts apparent in this decision between the Fourth District and decisions of this Court and decisions of other district courts of appeal (see also Point II, infra).

The initial issue thus presented by the certified conflict is whether the wrongful imposition of public defender fees and costs constitutes fundamental error which may be challenged on direct appeal without having been presented to the trial court, in light of Section 924.051(3), *Florida Statutes* (1997), amended Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.800(b) and amended Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.140(d).

In Neal v. State, the First District Court of Appeal relied on this Court's decision in Wood v. State, 544 So. 2d 1004 (Fla. 1989), in holding that it is fundamental error to order a criminal defendant to pay attorney's fees without affording adequate notice and an opportunity to be heard, and thus, that the issue may be raised on appeal notwithstanding the fact that it was never presented to the trial court. *Id.* at 395; *Matke v. State*, 23 Fla.

L. Weekly D469 (Fla. 1st DCA Feb. 13, 1998), review granted, State v. Matke, Case No. 92,476 (May 19, 1998)(trial court's failure to give defendant notice of right to hearing to contest imposition of public defender fees is fundamental error; but certifying conflict with two decisions of the Fourth District holding that such error is not fundamental). Petitioner notes that although the First District has certified a question of great public importance to this Court concerning whether the wrongful imposition of a public defender's lien still constitutes fundamental error which may be raised on direct appeal in light of the Criminal Appeal Reform Act and amended Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.800(b), Dodson v. State, 710 So. 2d 159 (Fla. 1st DCA 1998), Mike v. State, 710 So. 2d 159 (Fla. 1st DCA 1998), it continues to hold that the wrongful imposition is fundamental error. Sculley v. State, 23 Fla. L. Weekly D1356 (Fla. 1st DCA June 1, 1998).

Petitioner submits that the Fourth District was wrong in receding from *Louisgeste*, certifying conflict with *Neal* and holding that the improper imposition of public defender fees and costs is no longer fundamental error.

Section 938.29(6), Florida Statutes (1997), provides that "the defendant-recipient or parent, after adequate notice thereof, shall

have opportunity to be heard and offer objection to the determination, and to be represented by counsel, with due opportunity to exercise and be accorded the procedures and rights provided in the laws and court rules pertaining to civil cases at law." Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.720(d)(1) provides: "The amount of the lien shall be given and a judgment entered in that amount against the accused. Notice of the accused's right to a hearing to contest the amount of the lien shall be given at the time of sentence."

In Wood v. State, 544 So. 2d at 1006, this Court held that it is fundamental error to order a criminal defendant to pay costs pursuant to Section 27.3455, *Florida Statutes*, without affording adequate notice and a meaningful hearing, and thus, that issue may be raised on appeal notwithstanding the fact that it was never presented to the trial court. This Court held:

> Here though, we are directly confronted with the question of fundamental error in failure to comply with Jenkins [Jenkins v. State, 422 So. 2d 1007 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982), approved in part, disapproved in part, 444 So. 2d 947 (Fla. 1984)]. Our opinion in Jenkins is founded upon constitutional rights of due process and the most basic requirements of adequate notice and meaningful hearing prior to the termination of substantive rights or some other state-enforced penalty. In Jenkins we held that court costs could not be assessed

against a defendant without adequate notice and a judicial determination that the defendant has the ability to pay. *Id.* at 950.

This holding goes to the very heart of the requirements of the due process clauses of our state and federal constitutions. The denial of these basic constitutional rights constitutes fundamental error.

Wood, 544 So. 2d at 1006. In so holding, this Court recognized the

following:

Unfortunately, costs are sometimes incorrectly assessed against defendants. It is the rights of these persons whom the due process clause seeks to protect, and it is fundamental error for a court to fail to protect those rights. Without adequate notice and a meaningful hearing, a court has no way of knowing who should pay costs and who should not. Without adequate notice and a meaningful hearing, the requirements of due process have not been met.

Id. (emphasis supplied).

The fundamental due process tenets upon which Wood was based remain unchanged in the aftermath of the enactment of the Criminal Appeal Reform Act of 1996 and the ensuing rules amendments. Further, Section 924.051(3) **specifically** states that instances of fundamental error may be raised on appeal.

As this Court has determined that it is fundamental error to order a criminal defendant to pay attorney's fees without affording adequate notice and an opportunity to be heard, therefore, that issue may be raised on appeal notwithstanding the fact that it was never presented to the trial court. See Wood. As the instant decision is in conflict with Neal and Wood, this Court must approve Neal and quash Hyden.

Additionally, the issue of public defender fees is distinguishable because it is the defendant's own counsel who has the burden of moving for the imposition of public defender fees against his or her own client. When the assigned public defender moves for costs and fees he or she is no longer representing the indigent criminal defendant at that point because the defendant has a statutory right to object to the imposition of the fee and/or the amount sought by appointed counsel. There is a conflict of interest. Therefore, a defendant's interests are essentially unrepresented as to this issue. That is why notice is so vital and the notion of an "objection" by a "pro se" litigant as suggested by Hyden so untenable and unworkable.

Since these fees are required by law, it is the trial judge who must be responsible for insuring that all the constitutional and procedural rights of the indigent criminal defendant are scrupulously honored. There is no one else to do so as the indigent defendant is all alone on this issue. The trial judges

must take responsibility for this one unique situation required by the laws of our state. This Honorable Court should insist that the trial court comply with the applicable law before imposing public defender fees and costs or face reversal on appeal.

However, the issue at bar was **not** the trial court's failure to provide Mr. Hyden with prior notice and an opportunity to be heard. At the sentencing hearing, the trial court determined that a lien should be entered for the public defender fees and costs. Nevertheless, in addition to the entry of a lien, due to a ministerial error, the written order of probation erroneously included the requirement that Mr. Hyden pay the fees and costs (termed "restitution") as **conditions of his probation**¹. The Fourth District apparently decided the above fundamental error issue as the district court also held that it would no longer correct unpreserved errors where a written order failed to conform to the trial court's oral pronouncement (except apparently in the case of fundamental error).

Thus, the *Hyden* court held that this issue was not fundamental error in the context of considering it a sentencing error: "In this

¹ A scrivener's error also resulted in the imposition of the additional unpronounced condition of probation that Petitioner submit to breath and blood testing.

district, we will no longer entertain on appeal the correction of sentencing errors which are not properly preserved. In this case, the appellant challenges two aspects of his sentence." Hyden v. State, 716 So. 2d at 961.

The Fourth District's refusal to correct these ministerial errors in the written order which resulted in the imposition of additional unpronounced conditions of probation is thus also erroneous for the following reasons.

First, the Fourth District in *Hyden* erred in holding that the well-settled case law that a written order which conflicts with a trial court's oral pronouncement must be corrected on direct appeal despite the absence of an objection below has been abrogated in light of Section 924.051(3), *Florida Statutes* (1997), amended Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.800(b) and amended Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.140(d) (*see* Point II, *infra*).

Further, this Court has held that an illegal sentence may be raised on appeal without preservation below. *State v. Mancino*, 710 So. 2d 159 (Fla. 1998); *Davis v. State*, 661 So. 2d 1193, 1196-97 (Fla. 1995). The scrivener's errors at bar resulted in the imposition of **additional** unpronounced conditions of probation which required payment of public defender fees and costs and that Mr.

Hyden submit to blood and breath testing. As such imposition constituted an unconstitutional enhancement of a sentence, the resulting sentence is an illegal sentence that is fundamental error that can be raised in a direct appeal under the definition set forth in State v. Mancino. See § 924.051(3); Hopping v. State, 708 So. 2d 263, 265 (Fla. 1998) ("where it can be determined without an evidentiary hearing that a sentence has been unconstitutionally enhanced in violation of the double jeopardy clause, the sentence is illegal"); Lippman v. State, 633 So. 2d 1061 (Fla. 1994)(trial court's enhancement of the terms of the defendant's probation after defendant had begun serving probation violated the double jeopardy prohibition); Nelson v. State, 23 Fla. L. Weekly D2241 (Fla. 1st DCA Oct. 1, 1998). In Hopping, this Court relied on the fact that the record reflected without dispute that the trial court had illegally increased the defendant's sentence after the defendant had already begun service of that sentence. See Troupe v. Rowe, 283 So. 2d 857 (Fla. 1973) (prohibiting the increase of a sentence once it has commenced being served).

Thus, the challenged written order of probation where scrivener's errors resulted in the imposition of additional unpronounced conditions of probation created an illegal sentence.

Hence, the Fourth District decided this issue erroneously. This Court must quash *Hyden* and remand with directions to reverse the written order and remand for correction to conform to the trial court's oral pronouncements by deleting the additional conditions of probation requiring Petitioner to submit to breath and blood testing and pay public defender fees and costs.

For the foregoing reasons, this Honorable Court should accept jurisdiction, approve *Neal* and quash *Hyden*.

POINT II

THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IN HYDEN V. STATE, 715 SO. 2D 960 (FLA. 4TH DCA 1998) (EN BANC), ERRONEOUSLY IDENTIFIED TOO NARROW A CLASS OF SENTENCING ERRORS WHICH IT WILL CONSIDER ON APPEAL WITHOUT PRESERVATION IN THE TRIAL COURT.

After accepting jurisdiction as established in Point I, Petitioner submits that this Honorable Court should also quash the instant decision as the opinion in is direct and express conflict on other points of law with numerous other decisions of this Court and its sister district courts of appeal.

The Fourth District in Hyden v. State, 715 So. 2d 960 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998) (en banc), erroneously identified too narrow a class of sentencing errors which it will consider on appeal without preservation in the trial court: preserved sentencing errors, fundamental errors and illegal sentences as defined in Davis v. State, 661 So. 2d 1193 (Fla. 1995). To this end, the instant decision is also in conflict with this Court's recent decision in State v. Mancino, 714 So. 2d 429 (Fla. 1998), and numerous other decisions of this Court and the district courts of appeal². In

Petitioner notes that the Fourth District has recently refused to apply the *Mancino* definition of an illegal sentence in deciding a defendant's claim that his written sentence was illegal because it did not conform to the oral pronouncement at his sentencing hearing. The Fourth District held that the rule that the oral

State v. Mancino, this Court clarified its holding in Davis v. State as follows:

> As is evident from our recent holding in Hopping [Hopping v. State, 708 So. 2d 263 (Fla. 1998)], we have rejected the contention that our holding in Davis mandates that only those sentences that facially exceed the statutory maximums may be challenged under rule 3.800(a) as illegal...A sentence that patently fails to comport with statutory or constitutional limitations is by definition "illegal".

Id. at 433. The errors at bar also fall within the Mancino definition.

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