FILED

SID J. WHITE

JAN, 8 1999

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 93, 966

TERRY HYDEN,

Petitioner,

Cinei Departy Clark

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON REVIEW FROM A CERTIFIED CONFLICT OF DECISIONS

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH

Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

CELIA TERENZIO, BUREAU CHIEF Florida Bar No. 656879

ETTIE FEISTMANN Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0892830

ELAINE L. THOMPSON Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0816302 1655 Palm Beach Lakes Boulevard Suite 300 West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 Telephone: (561) 688-7759

Counsel for Respondent

A = A

FILED

JAN 4 1999

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This case should be dismissed because there is no longer a conflict between the districts. In the alternative, respondent contends the Fourth District correctly held that unpreserved sentencing errors which are not fundamental are not reviewable by the appellate court. Petitioner's alleged sentencing errors are not fundamental, and thus his failure to preserve them in the trial court rendered them procedurally barred.

While the changes in the Criminal Appeal Reform Act and the rules changed the definition of fundamental error in the sentencing context, those changes are not unconstitutional. First, for sentencing errors to be preserved, a defendant must present them to the trial court for review prior to raising them on direct appeal. Next, a defendant has other available remedies regarding review of an illegal sentence under the rules of criminal procedure. Thus, the restriction prescribed by the Criminal Appeal Reform Act on the appeal of sentencing errors is both efficient and constitutional.

ARGUMENT

POINTS I & II

WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FOURTH DISTRICT ERRED, IN HOLDING THAT A DEFENDANT WHO FAILS TO OBJECT TO THE IMPOSITION OF COSTS AND ATTORNEYS FEES IN THE TRIAL COURT MAY NOT RAISE THOSE SENTENCING ISSUES ON APPEAL.

Respondent, the State of Florida, submits that the issue was properly decided in Hyden v. State, 715 So. 2d 960 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998), Maddox v. State, 708 So. 2d 617 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998), Denson v. State, 711 So. 2d 1225 (Fla. 2d DCA 1998), and Locke v. State, 719 So. 2d 1249 (Fla. 1st DCA 1998). Those decisions all held that a defendant who fails to challenge the imposition of costs, fees, and conditions of probation in the trial court may not seek review of such issues on appeal. Petitioner in this case failed to challenge the imposition of costs and fees as conditions of probation in the trial court. Hence, those issues are not preserved for appellate review.

At the outset, respondent reasserts that this case should be dismissed because no conflict exists between the district courts regarding the issue brought by petitioner for review. The Fourth District's opinion in <u>Hyden</u> reflects the correct rule of law, and the conflicting, incorrect cases have been eliminated and do not have any precedential effect. <u>Wainwright v. Taylor</u>, 476 So. 2d 669, 670 (Fla. 1985). <u>See also Bailey v. Hough</u>, 441 So. 2d 614 (Fla. 1983) (court lacked jurisdiction where conflicting case

receded from in subsequent decision); <u>Wackenhut Corp. v. Judges of</u>

<u>District Court of Appeal</u>, 297 So. 2d 300 (Fla. 1974) (conflicting case reversed).¹

Alternatively, if this court determines that it has jurisdiction, respondent contends that the Fourth District's opinion should be upheld. The record on appeal shows that on February 12, 1997, petitioner entered a plea of nolo contendere to charges of possession of cocaine in open court. The conduct which gave rise to the charges occurred on September 27, 1996. (R 1). As a part of that plea agreement, petitioner reserved the right to contest the denial of his motion to suppress evidence. (TR 4-5). No other issues were preserved for review.

While the trial court was discussing conditions of probation during the sentencing hearing on March 10, 1997, petitioner's counsel, an Assistant Public Defender, tendered to the court a final judgment for public defender fees of \$200 and costs of \$42. (TR 11). The court notified petitioner that he had the right to contest those fees. (TR 11). When the court informed petitioner that he had the right to contest the public defender fees of \$200, he stated, "No, sir. I waive that right." (TR 12). When the

The majority of petitioner's argument is moot. The certification of conflict was with the First District's decision in Neal v. State, 688 So. 2d 392 (Fla. 1st DCA), rev. denied, 698 So. 2d 543 (Fla. 1997). However, the First District receded from its holding in Neal in the case of Locke, 719 So. 2d 1249, and therefore, no conflict exists.

Assistant Public Defender informed the court that there were additional costs of \$42, petitioner remarked, "I waive my right." (TR 12). The court found that petitioner waived the right to a hearing on the public defender fees and costs. (TR 12). The trial court entered an order of probation which included the costs and fees as discussed in open court. (R 35). Petitioner did not file any pleading in the trial court challenging the imposition of those fees and costs.

Petitioner alleged in the district court that he did not receive notice that the fees and costs would be conditions of probation, and that the oral pronouncement did not conform to the written sentence. Petitioner argued that the sentence was illegal. Respondent asserted that petitioner had actual notice by virtue of the trial court's announcement in open court, when the trial court explicitly informed him of the right to contest them. Respondent also maintained that petitioner expressly waived the right to contest them, and that petitioner had constructive notice by virtue of their publication in the Florida Statutes. See Section 27.56, Fla. Stat. (1995); Locke v. State, 719 So. 2d 1249, and cases cited therein. Respondent also argued that petitioner's claim was not preserved for appellate review because petitioner failed to raise this issue in the trial court.

The Fourth District did not reach the merits of petitioner's sentencing issues because it held that it will "no longer entertain

on appeal the correction of sentencing errors which are not properly preserved" by objection at the time of sentencing or in a motion to correct sentence under Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.800.

Assuming arguendo that the oral pronouncement did not conform to the written order, i.e., that the costs were not conditions of probation, petitioner still failed to preserve the alleged error. In order to be preserved, the issue had to be presented to, and ruled on by the trial court. § 924.051(1)(a), Fla. Stat. (1997); Fla. R. App. P. 9.140(b)(2)(B)(iv); and Fla. R. App. P. 9.140(d). Because petitioner failed to file a Rule 3.800(b) motion in the trial court, petitioner must demonstrate that the alleged error was fundamental. Petitioner has not shown so.

The Criminal Appeal Reform Act of 1996 changed petitioner's right to appeal an unpreserved sentencing error in a direct appeal. Before the amendments to the statute and to the rules, courts took inconsistent approaches to whether an objection was needed to preserve a sentencing error, and there were various abuses of the judicial system, which had arisen primarily from exceptions to the rule requiring sentencing errors to be presented first in the trial court. Then, case law evolved which provided that sentencing errors apparent from the record could be reviewed by the appellate court whether preserved or not. See Taylor v. State, 601 So. 2d 540 (Fla. 1992); Dailey v. State, 488 So. 2d 532 (Fla. 1986); and

State v. Rhoden, 448 So. 2d 1013 (Fla. 1984); State v. Montague, 682 So. 2d 1085 (Fla. 1996) (stating that contemporaneous objection rule does not apply to sentencing errors apparent on face of record, and such errors may be raised for first time on appeal).

The appellate system became clogged with sentencing errors which were raised for the first time on direct appeal. To alleviate this problem, both this Court and the Florida Legislature undertook corrective action. It was achieved by the Criminal Appeal Reform Act of 1996, and by amendments to the rules of criminal and the appellate procedure. The Criminal Appeal Reform Act of 1996, codified as chapter 924, Florida Statutes (Supp. 1996), was approved and implemented by this Court in Amendments to Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure, 685 So. 2d 773 (Fla. 1996), and Amendments to Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure, 685 So. 2d 1253 (Fla. 1996); Amendments to Fla.R.App.P. 9.020(g) and Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.800, 675 So. 2d 1374 (Fla. 1996).

After the passage of Section 924.051, this court amended Florida Rule Appellate Procedure 9.140 to work with the Criminal Appeal Reform Act. As applied to appeals after a plea of guilty or nolo contendere, the amended Rule provides the following:

Rule 9.140(b):

(2) Pleas. A defendant may not appeal from a guilty or nolo contendere plea except as follows:

- (A) A defendant who pleads guilty or nolo contendere may expressly reserve the right to appeal a prior dispositive order of the lower tribunal, identifying with particularity the point of law being reserved.
- (B) A defendant who pleads guilty or nolo contendere may otherwise directly appeal only
- (I) the lower tribunal's lack of subject matter jurisdiction;
- (ii) a violation of the plea agreement, if preserved by a motion to withdraw plea;
- (iii) an involuntary plea, if
 preserved by a motion to withdraw plea;
- (iv) a sentencing error, if preserved; or
- (v) as otherwise provided by law [e.s.].

Rule 9.140 was also further changed to specifically refer to sentencing errors:

- (d) Sentencing Errors. A sentencing error may not be raised on appeal unless the alleged error has first been brought to the attention of the lower tribunal:
 - (1) at the time of sentencing; or
 - (2) by motion pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.800(b).

Specifically, Rule 3.800 was amended to provide a remedy for the type of problem petitioner is raising in this case. Rule 3.800(b), as amended, provides that a "defendant may file a motion to correct

the sentence or order of probation within thirty days after the rendition of the sentence."

These specific changes led the First, Second, Fourth and Fifth District Courts to find that the concept of fundamental errors regarding fees and costs no longer exist. As noted by the district courts, only "preserved" errors can be appealed.

There is not, and cannot be, a legitimate constitutional right to forego the preservation of claimed errors in the trial court. That is particularly true when the statute and implementing rules provide ready remedies for every legitimate claim of error to be first raised in the trial court. Errors can be raised in the trial court contemporaneously, by a post-sentencing motion, or by a post-conviction motion. It should be noted that the definition of "rendition" of an order was amended to provide that a timely filed motion to correct the sentence stays rendition of the judgment of conviction and sentence for purposes of appeal. See Hyden; Fla. R. App. P. 9.020(h). Thus, the amendments make it clear that a timely motion to correct a sentence preserves the defendant's appellate rights. The defendant loses his or her appellate rights only when he or she does not observe the provisions of Rule 3.800(b) and Rule 9.140(d); Hyden.² In sum, in amending the Florida Rules of

²Furthermore, the Florida Supreme Court created Rule 9.600(d), which provides the trial court with concurrent jurisdiction to review sentencing errors pursuant to Rule 3.800(a) while the appellate court reviews trial claims and other preserved error on direct appeal.

Appellate and Criminal Procedure, the Florida Supreme Court has provided numerous vehicles for defendants to raise sentencing errors in the trial court, regardless of the "fundamentalness" of the error alleged, and in a manner that continues to promote fairness.

A defendant then has the following remedies to challenge his sentencing errors in the trial court. A defendant may file a motion to correct an illegal sentence under Rule 3.800(a) at any time. A defendant may raise a contemporaneous objection regarding a sentencing error during sentencing or file a motion under Rule 3.800(b) within thirty days of the rendition of the sentence. Additionally, a defendant may bring a sentencing error to the trial court's attention by filing a Rule 3.850 motion within two years of the rendition of the final judgment of conviction and sentence. Under each of these scenarios listed above, the defendant is entitled to appeal a trial court's adverse ruling on the motion or objection.

In the instant case, since petitioner's alleged errors were not preserved, he urges this court to consider the alleged errors fundamental. Hyden correctly held they are not.

Generally, fundamental error is defined as error that goes to the "foundation of the case" or the "merits of the cause of action." <u>Denson</u>, at 1230. However, recently courts have distinguished between sentencing and trial errors and have found

fundamental error exists only in the latter context. Maddox, 708 So. 2d at 619. In Denson, the court described fundamental error, pursuant to section 924.051(3), Florida Statutes, as an error that is "...so egregious and without alternative remedy that it warrants the appellate courts exercising jurisdiction in the case solely for the purpose of correcting that error. [e.s.]" Denson, 711 So. 2d at 1229. The Denson court further stated that "there is little question that 'fundamental error' for purposes of the Criminal Appeal Reform Act is a narrower species of error than some of the errors previously described as fundamental in case law." Id. The district courts in Maddox, Hyden, Denson, and Locke, all agree that error in the imposition of fees and costs is not fundamental. A review of what each of these district courts said is illuminating.

The Fifth District in <u>Maddox</u>, explaining that sentencing errors are never fundamental, said:

As for the "fundamental error" exception, it now appears clear, given the recent rule amendments, that "fundamental error" no longer exists in the sentencing context.

It appears that the supreme court has concluded that the notion of "fundamental error" should be limited to trial errors, not sentencing errors.

The language of Rule 9.140(b)(2)(B)(iv) could not be clearer. And why should there be "fundamental" error where the courts have created a "failsafe" procedural device to correct any sentencing error or omission at the trial court level? Elimination of the concept of "fundamental error" in sentencing will avoid the inconsistency and illogic that plagues the case law and will provide a much-needed measure of clarity, certainty and finality.

If an improper \$1 cost assessment is "fundamental error," then any sentencing error, no matter how minor, would be fundamental [e.s.].

Maddox, supra, 708 So. 2d at 620.

Likewise in <u>Hyden</u>, the Fourth District while agreeing with the Fifth District's analysis, wrote:

The addition of Rule 3.800(b) and Rule 9.140(d) has changed the legal landscape with respect to whether it remains fundamental error to impose a public defender's fee or costs where the defendant failed to move to correct the sentence or order of probation.

Assuming that prior to the sentence a defendant is not given notice of the state's intent to impose costs and a public defenders' fee, once the fees are imposed in the sentence, the defendant surely has notice of them. If the defendant contests either the ability to pay such fees or the amount, he or she can file a motion to correct the sentence, pursuant to Rule 3.800(b), contesting the imposition and requesting a hearing.

It makes little sense to characterize significantly less important issues of costs and attorney's fees fundamental and thereby permit them to be raised for the first time on appeal, when Rule 9.140(d) cuts off the right to bring far more serious matters involving deprivation of liberty, such as issues of habitualization, without proper preservation.[e.s.]

Hyden, 715 So. 2d at 961-962.

The Second District in Denson stated:

the <u>intent</u> and the goals of this collective effort have been to <u>minimize frivolous appeals</u>, to <u>maximize the efficiency of the appellate system</u>, and to place the task of correcting most sentencing errors in the lap of the circuit court.

The $\underline{\text{error}}$ which the legislature is describing $\underline{\text{in}}$

section 924,051(3) is an error that is not merely correctable on direct appeal without preservation, but it is an error that is so egregious and without alternative remedy that it warrants the appellate court exercising jurisdiction in the case solely for the purpose of correcting that error. defined, there is little question that "fundamental error" for purposes of the Criminal Appeal Reform Act is a narrower species of error than some of the errors previously described as fundamental in case Because the sentencing errors in this case could have been challenged by a motion pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.800(b) prior to appeal and because they may still be challenged postconviction motions, <u>neither of the</u> sentencing errors in this case fits within this <u>definition of fundamental error</u>. [footnote omitted]

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